FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2016 APR 29 AM 11: 29

NO. 48631 -8-II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPUTY **DIVISION TWO**

KENNETH SWANIGAN and DR. CHARLIE WALKER, III **PAST GRAND MASTERS**

Appellants

 \mathbf{v}

MOST WORSHIPFUL PRINCE HALL GRAND LODGE F. & A.M. WASHINGTON AND JURSIDICTION and MOST WORSHIPFUL GRAND MASTER, GREGORY D. WRAGGS, SR.

Respondent (s)
Corrected APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF
 Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County, Washington
The Honorable Michael Swartz

Kenneth Swanigan Pro Se - Appellant PO Box 2204 - Renton, WA 98056 Phone: (425) 221-2450

Email: kenneth.swanigan1@gmail.com

I. INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal from the Pierce County Superior court granting Respondent, Most Worshipful Prince Hall Grand Lodge and Gregory D. Wraggs, motion for summary judgement.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

- a. The court erred by granting Summary Judgment to Respondent and not address the Appellants Complaint.
- The court erred by not considering Respondent never responding to Appellants Complaint filed on July 9, 2015.
- d. The court erred by not considering Appellants Injunction & Restraining Order filed on July 9, 2015 and Appellant Request for Discovery filed on July 28, 2015.
- e. The court erred in not demanding the Respondent present discovery evidence which show Appellants was in court representing Mr. Lonnie R. Traylor during his trial against the Grand Lodge.
- g. The court erred in allowing Due Process by not timely informing Appellants that their case was had been transferred to another Judge until the day of the hearing.
- h. The court erred by not considering that the Grand Lodge did not allow

 Appellants opportunities to appeal their case before the Grand Assembly

 which is a major violation of the Masonic Unchangeable Laws.
- The court erred by not considering Declaration Statements provided on behalf of Appellants.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

1. Why did the court grant Summary Judgment in favor of Respondent when all of the evidence was never submitted to prove Appellant was guilty?

The court granting Respondent, Prince Hall Grand Lodge summary judgment without demanding or considering proof of evidence requested by appellant of the 113th Grand Session Audio and Masonic Trial Tape Recordings.

- 2. Why did the court Not Demand Respondent to produce discovery?
 On July 9, 2015 and July 28, 2015, Appellant requested discovery and
 Respondent failed to provide requested evidence on both occasions.
- 3. Why did the court Not Sanction Respondent Attorney Fowler for for not responding or providing to Appellants request for discovery evidence?

On July 9, 2015 Appellants requested discovery was file and Respondent failed to provide evidence. On July 28, 2015, Appellant filed another Request for Production to which Respondent continued to ignore as well as the court. Appellants request for discovery was never provided.

- 4. Why did the court Not hold Respondent to same standard as Appellants for failing to file his documents timely?
 Appellants filed their Complaint on July 9, 2015., Respondent has not responded to Appellants Complaint.
- 5. Why did the court render its ruling granting Summary Judgment to

 Respondent on the premise that Appellants did not state a claim in their complaint.

Appellants filed their complaint specifically on the grounds "Course of Conduct, Unfair Treatment, and Harassment. "RCW 10.14.020"

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is about the Appellants standing in the Court with Mr. Lonnie R. Traylor because he has been falsely accused of stealing from the MWPHGL of Washington by the Most Worshipful Prince Hall Grand Lodge of Washington and Its Jurisdiction to which the Appellants were disciplined prior to any written charges or trial. The Grand Lodge failed to follow its own internal rules for resolution and that the superior court failed by not allowing Appellants due process of law. (RP 8)

In masonry it's clearly state that masonry cannot interfere with a Mason's moral, social or civic duty, be that what they may. (RP 7

Respondent appears to be confused to Appellants complaint as the Appellants filed their complaint under Washington State Law RCW 10.14.020- (1) "Course of Conduct" (RP 6)

¹ Hearing dated October 30, 2016 - (RP 9)

² Hearing dated December 11, 2015 - (RP 9)

which means a pattern of conduct composed and series of acts over a period of time, and not on the grounds of Anti-Harassment to which the court ruled.

(RP 6) (RP 9) (CP 35)

This case is a Civil case, and Not a Masonic Case, Moreover, this is not a petty or ancillary case based on the status of Appellants membership. (RP 7) (CP 100)

Appellants received a "Letter of Reprimand" from Respondent, without receiving any Formal Masonic Charges prior to Respondent conducting an Investigation or Appellants having any Trial. (CP 8 -18) (CP 31-48) (CP 159) (CP 166 - 169) (CP 50 - 64) (CP 71 - 88)

In accordance with the Masonic Code Book, "All charges of Un-Masonic conduct (that is, of Masonic offense) shall be made in writing specifying with reasonable certainty the character of the offense alleged, and the time and place as near as may be practical, and be signed by the accuser. (RP 7)

Title 202.01 and Title 302.01 - states "Charges must be so explicit that the accused will have a fair understanding of what he is to answer." (CP 66 - CP 70)

Appellants received "Notification of Trial," which was delivered to Appellants home by Mr. Eric Barfield from Respondent. **CP 71) (RP 6)**

In addition, Appellants receive a Certified Letter by US Mail, stating the same information, which was delivered by Mr. Barfield. **CP 71**)

Appellants asserts, there were NO Specific Masonic Charges sent or given to Appellants prior to Appellants Trial. (CP 6)

³ Hearing dated October 30, 2016 - (RP 9)

⁴ Hearing dated December 11, 2015 - (RP 9)

Appellants asserts that, if other members of the Grand Lodge attended the Civil Trial of Mr. Traylor, why were Appellants being discriminated against and the recipients of "Unfair Treatment? (RP 8)

"The Court Official Transcripts of Mr. Traylor hearing will show that Mr. Traylor is and was the ONLY person, who represented himself (Pro Se) at All of his Civil Hearings held in Pierce County Superior Court. (RP 8) (CP 139)

In fact, the courts Official Transcripts will show that Appellants could not and have not spoken A Single Word to Represent Mr. Traylor in his Civil Lawsuit Proceedings against the Prince Hall Grand Lodge. (RP 8)

It is the Appellants understanding that an American Citizen can attend a Civil Trial at any time without have to be discipline or punished. (CP 167)

It is the Appellants understanding that a Masonic organization does NOT have Jurisdiction over a Superior Court. (CP 167)

In the Masonic realm, it is stated clearly that Masonry shall not interfere with a person Moral, Social, Civic duties or Privileges, but here again, it appears the Grand Lodge either do not understand or do not care, that their actions are clearly in contrast and gross violations of it own laws, rules and regulations.

(CP 110) (RP 7)

Appellants was NOT allowed the 30 days to prepare for their case whereby; Title 203.03 - In part states "Thirty (30) days shall intervene between the time of a mailing of such notice and the time of the hearing and the proceedings of the trial. (RP 6) (CP 152– CP 157)

⁵ Hearing dated December 11, 2015 - (RP 7)

Appellants was have been denied The Requested Discovery Information and Materials, which were to be used in their Trial. (RP 6), (CP 16 - 17) (CP 32 -33), (CP 49 - 50), (CP 72-73), (CP 111 - 112), (CP 122 - 127) (CP 131 - 140), (CP 167 - 168)

Appellants asserts that their Substantive and Procedural Due Process of Law, which is guaranteed in The United States of America in the 14th Amendment has been Denied! (RP 6), (CP 16 - 18), (CP 49 - 50), (CP 72-74), (CP 123 - 125), (CP 167 - 168)

Appellants filed their appeal with the Grand Lodge to appeal their case before the Grand Assembly in accordance the Unchangeable Landmark No. 13, and the Grand Lodge, again Denied Appellant rights to be heard by the Grand Assembly and prevent from attending the Grand Session. (RP 7), (CP 90), (CP 102), (CP 123), (CP 127), (CP 147)

Appellants asserts, that Unchangeable Landmark No. 13, states'
"THE RIGHT OF EVERY FREEMASON TO APPEAL from the decision of his
brethren in Lodge convened, to the Grand Lodge or General Assembly of
Freemasons, is a Landmark highly essential to the preservation of justice, and the
prevention of oppression. (CP 7)

Appellants firmly asserts, that their Rights to Appeal was violated and that they have exhausted all possible internal resolutions to resolve this matter with the Grand Lodge. (RP 7) (CP 49), (CP 73), (CP 104), (CP 112), (CP 127), (CP 129), (CP 141), (CP 149)

⁶ Hearing dated December 11, 2015 - (RP 7)

Appellants filed their civil Complaint, Preliminary Injunction and Restraining Order on July 9, 2015, specifically under Washington State Law RCW 10.14.020- (1) "Course of conduct" which means a pattern of conduct composed of a series of acts over a period of time, purpose to which the Prince Hall Grand Lodge to which the Respondent has yet to answer. (RP 4) (RP 6) (CP 109),(CP 120 - 124), (CP 131 - CP 138), (CP 147), (CP 178)

On July 28, 2015, Appellants filed Request for Production of Documents to be mailed to Appellants address. (RP 6), (CP 16), -17), (CP 32), (CP 49-50) CP 72 - 73), (CP 131 - CP 100), (CP 111-112), (CP 120 - 123), (CP 167 - 168)

Documents to be produced by Respondents must adhere with the Definitions set forth and conditions of Rule 34 Rules and Procedure. (CP 95), CP 122)

Respondent had Fifteen (15) days of service to comply with the specified production, unless alternate mutually agreed upon terms are reached by all parties. (CP 92), (CP 95), (CP 126)

Respondent did not respond to request for discovery until

September 9, 2015 which was extremely outside of the timeframe to respond to

Appellants request. (CP 124)

Respondent filed a Notice of Appearance, but failed to serve Appellants at anytime that they would have counsel representing the Grand Lodge at the hearings until the day of the hearing. It was at that time Appellant was served with Respondent Notice of Appearance. (RP 6)

⁷ Hearing dated October 30, 2016 - (RP 4)

⁸ Hearing dated December 11, 2015 - (RP 6)

In fact Respondent communication was over the phone without requesting or notifying Appellant or getting mutual agreement for the telephone conference call. (RP 11)

The court allowed the conference and set a mandatory hearing that was scheduled for December 11, 2015. (RP 11)

On December 11, 2015, the court rule in favor of Respondent without considering Appellants requested production of documents, neither did the court ever demand Respondent to produce discovery that would prove Appellants were guilty of the allege allegations. (CP 116)

Appellants finds the court ruling was contrary to the United States

Constitution Procedural Due Process, which is a legal doctrine in the

United States that requires government officials to follow fair procedures before
depriving a person of life, liberty, or property. [1]:657. (CP 111)

In fact, the court record will show that the court stated "that Due Process only applied to government agencies and did not apply in state law. (RP 6)

The Facts and Evidences has shown a Multitude of Gross Violations, which have been committed against Appellants, such as: Administering a Letter of Reprimand to Appellants without A Trial, Investigation, No Formal/Specific Charges given to Appellants in writing, which was Appellants first Punitive Encounter with Respondent. (CP 166)

⁹ Hearing dated October 30, 2016 - (RP 6)

¹⁰ Hearing dated December 11, 2015 - (RP 11),

Sending Appellants a Certified Letter twice in reference to "Notification of Trial." violating the timelines of the rules and regulation of the Grand Lodge.

Neglecting to respond the Certified Requested "Discovery Information requested by Appellants so that they could be informed of the allege charge and properly prepare for the Trial. (CP 168)

Appellants assert that Respondent continued to exercise "Abuse of Power in violating the 30 Day Timeline internal rules on several occasions;

Violating Appellants Constitutional Due Process of Law according to the Masonic Laws of Mackey's Jurisprudence and Violating The United States of America Constitution by denying Appellants Substantive and Procedural Due Process of Law, which is guaranteed in the 14th Amendment; Violating the stature of "Equal Protection Under The Law" by inflicting Unfair Treatment to Appellants and all members. (RP 6), (CP 168)

The court have ruled on several occasions against the Grand Lodge in stating that "The Grand Lodge Do Not Follow Their Own Laws" where their have been other civil lawsuit file against the Grand Lodge whereby the Appellants prevailed on a similar case. (CP 168)

The Masonic Code Book - Article 13.22 states "The Grand Master is NOT granted unlimited power and his decision and action MUST be in accordance with the Constitution and By-Laws as set forth in the Masonic Code Book." CP 170)

¹¹ Hearing dated December 11, 2015 - (RP 6)

Appellants believes the Honorable Michael E. Schwartz received Appellants case from the Honorable Vicky Hogan on or about December 10, 2015, to be heard on December 11, 2015. (RP 4)

Appellants asserts that Honorable Michael E. Schwartz did not have appropriate time have read and reviewed Appellant entire case less than 24 hours prior to Appellants hearing. (RP 4)

It was after the Appellants hearing on December 14, 2015, when Appellants received a letter in the mail notifying them of the Judge that would be hearing their case. (RP 117)

Appellants believe this is improper notification of the court and shows a prejudice as the court notified Respondent and not Appellants. (RP 4)

Appellants asserts that the court failed at the process of the practical process of allow Appellants to present their case first and then the Respondent allowed time to rebuttal. (RP 4)

Appellants asserts that this appear to be impractical and show a prejudice due to the fact the Appellant are representing themselves.

Appellants asserts that the hearing should have been continued until such time Appellants was properly notified by the court that their case had been transferred to another court. (CP 116)

Appellants asserts that, during this entire process that no court has ever heard their case and plead to the court that all requests for Production of Documents have been exhausted as well as ALL internal remedies of the accordance with the internal processes and ask the court to reconsider

¹¹ Hearing dated December 11, 2015 - (RP 6)

Grand Lodge to resolve their matter internally after making several attempts in Appellants asserts that the hearing should have been continued until such time Appellants was properly notified by the court that their case had been transferred to another court. (RP 4)

Appellants asserts that, during this entire process that no court has ever heard their case and plead to the court that all requests for Production of Documents have been exhausted as well as ALL internal remedies of the Grand Lodge to resolve their matter internally after making several attempts in accordance with the internal processes and ask the court to reconsider Respondent summary judgment and grant Appellants appeal and their case be remanded back Pierce County Superior Court to be heard by a jury. (RP 4), (CP 120)

V. ARGUMENT

The action is being brought under Washington State Law RCW 10.14.020- (1) "Course of Conduct" means a pattern of conduct composed of a series of acts over a period of time, however short, evidencing a continuity of purpose and because Appellants attended a Civil Court Hearing in the Pierce County Superior Court on April 3 2015, of Mr. Lonnie R. Traylor because, he has been falsely accused of stealing by the Prince Hall Grand Lodge.

In response the Appellants was subjected to Harassment, Unfair Treatment and Deformation of Character by the Prince Hall Grand Lodge.

Respondent knew or should have known through complaints of their violations of Constitution and By-Laws Code Book.

Respondent failed to take prompt and effective action to prevent such violations from occurring.

Appellants request that the Court overturn Summary Judgment granted to Respondent and Appellants Complaint be remanded to remand back to Superior court to be heard by jury on the grounds that this is NOT a petty dispute over membership in the Grand Lodge!

Appellant case is about Due Process and Violations of their Civil and United State Constitutional Rights and violations of the Internal Dispute Resolution Process of the Prince Hall Grand Lodge Rules and Regulations.

Respondent's Attorney (James C. Fowler) interference with the ongoing case of Mr. Traylor who is in Civil Litigation with the Prince Hall Grand Lodge.

Appellant asserts that Gregory D. Wraggs, Sr., Carlton B. Tucker,
Patrick L. Hughes and Respondent counsel (Fowler), appeared at the Civil Trial
of Mr. Lonnie Traylor in Pierce County Superior Court on April 3, 2015.

However, only the Appellants was identified to have allegedly violated the organization rules and regulation and later notified of their Trial to be held on Tuesday, June 30, 2015.

Respondent Attorney (James C. Fowler) had indicated to (Wraggs) that Appellants were at Mr. Traylor's hearing on April 3, 2015, defending him, which resulted in a multitude of illegal actions to be conducted against Appellants that have affected their status as Life Members in the Grand Lodge, they were not given due process to defend themselves at any given time.

Appellants objects to Respondent that the "Complaint" filed by the Appellants is a mishmash of quotes from alleged Masonic authorities, and appears to be a request to the Grievance and Appeals Committee to the Grand Lodge, not a request to the Court.

Appellants further objects that Respondent alleges a mishmash and laundry list of laws that the organization is govern by and NO One, is authorized to violate them to include those whom served in leadership positions.

"The Unchangeable Landmarks of Masonry can never be changed."

Appellants objected because the organization broke it own laws and not allowed due process and failed to allow Appellants opportunity to appeal in accordance to unchangeable law that states in part "Every member have the right to appeal before the Grand Assembly.

Appellants objected to Respondent's statement that the Appellants never allege any legal theory under which they are proceeding, and never identify any legal form of relief being sought from the Court.

Although Defendant Attorney (James Fowler) may seem to think that Appellants have not allege an legal theory, or identify and legal relief from the court it appear he is in error.

Appellants filed their complaint on July 9, 2015, along with a Motion for Injunction an a Temporary Restraining Order that requested the relief sought by Appellants at that time Appellants Motion for requested Preliminary Injunction and that Respondent attorneys, and those persons in active concert or participation with them are hereby enjoined from any act or omission that interferes in any way

Appellants from attending or participation of ANY Masonic Affairs to include attending an participating in the 113th Annual Grand Session.

Appellants finds the court ruling was contrary to Washington law, whereby the court allowed Respondent to be in non-compliance of timely responding to Appellants request for production of documents.

Neither did the court sanction Respondent Attorney (Fowler) or hold him to the same standards as Appellants in adhering to the Washington court laws.

On July 9, 2015, Appellants filed their civil complaint with the court and the Respondent did not answer Appellants complaint within legal timeline CR 12.

Appellants filed all of their document timely and Respondent was negligent in their filings.

Procedural due process is required by the Due Process Clauses of Appellants.

VI. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

- 1. This matter having been assigned to the Honorable Judge Vicki Hogan and then transferred to the Honorable Judge Michael E. Schwartz who, ruled to dismiss Appellants Complaint with prejudice on December 11, 2015.
- 2. Respondent Attorney Fowler never responded to Appellants Complaint filed on July 9, 2015. Respondent never provided Appellants request for discovery filed on July 28 2015.
- 4. Respondent was never sanctioned by the court for filing for until timely filings and not and service to Appellants.

VII. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellants filed their civil complaint on July 9, 2015, specifically under Washington State Law RCW 10.14.020- (1) "Course of conduct" which means a pattern of conduct composed of a series of acts over a period of time, however short, evidencing a continuity of purpose to which the Prince Hall Grand Lodge of Washington and Jurisdiction to which the Respondent has yet to answer.

IX. EVIDENCE RELIED UPON

Appellant rely upon CR 59(a) (7), (8) and (9) CR 26 and 34 and CR 12, Landmarks #13 #7 & #25, Article 13:19, Article 13.22, Article 15.08, Title 51.03, Title 63.10, Title 200.02, Title 202.01, Title 204.07, Title 207.10

X. LEGAL AUTHORITY

The Court may reconsider a prior order when:

- There is no evidence or reasonable inference from the evidence to justify the verdict or the decision, or that it is contrary to law;
- Error in law occurring at the trial and objected to at the time by the party making the application; or

That substantial justice has not been done. CR 59 (a) (7-9). Here, Appellant respectfully request the Court to reconsider its

December 11, 2005 order regarding defendants' Order Granting Summary Judgement because it is contrary to Washington law, and substantial justice has not been done.'

XI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent moved for summary judgement base on the statute that the court does not interfere with Private Organization or Clubs business.

Appellants submit that they filed their complaint on the grounds of and civil matter and a not pertaining to membership.

Appellants have been accused of representing Mr. Lonnie Traylor in his case of theft, deformation of character, unfair treatment and discrimination which is not true, whereby the organization have accused Appellants of being guilty.

Appellants have never be given the opportunity to present their case to prove they are innocence and prove that they were actually just standing in Pierce County Superior court in support of Mr. Lonnie Traylor.

Appellants have never be given the opportunity to present their case to prove they are innocence in front of a jury or Grand Assembly of the Organization to which they've been accused., due to lack of due process, unfair treatment and harassment

XII. CONCLUSION

Therefore, Appellants finds that the Respondent remain in non-compliance of the aforementioned rules for production of documents and have not provided Appellants ALL of the information requested.

Appellants further find that the Respondent remain in non-compliance and in violations of their own internal rules and regulations more especially the UNCHANGEABLE LAWS of Masonry.

Based on the foregoing reasons, Appellants respectfully request that the Court reconsider the Order Granting Respondent Summary Judgement because it is contrary to Washington Law, Masonic Unchangeable Laws and the United State Constitution Law because substantial justice has not been done and Appellants were not given opportunity to present their case.

Appellants plead to the court that all requests for Production of

Documents have been exhausted as well as ALL internal remedies of the

Grand Lodge to resolve this matter internally after making several attempts in
accordance with the internal processes and ask the court to reconsider Summary

Judgment granted to Respondent and Appellant case be remanded back to Pierce

County Superior Court to be heard.