FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2016 JUN 30 PM 3:26

No.48631-8-II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY *JW*
DEPUTY

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

KENNETH SWANIGAN and CHARLIE WALKER III,

Appellants,

v.

MOST WORSHIPFUL PRINCE HALL GRAND LODGE FAM; and
M.W.G.M. GREGORY D. WRAGGS, SR.,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

James C. Fowler, WSBA #15560
Attorneys for Respondents

VANDEBERG JOHNSON & GANDARA, LLP

999 Third Avenue, Suite 3000
Seattle, Washington 98104-4088
Telephone: (206) 386-5904
Facsimile: (206) 464-0484

INTRODUCTION

This Court should affirm Judge Schwartz's dismissal of Appellants' Complaint for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. The Argument section of this brief is separated into two parts. Part I of the Argument section lays out the facts and legal grounds for affirming Judge Schwartz. Judge Schwartz acted correctly because the two legal theories in Appellants' Complaint, the anti harassment statute (RCW 10.14) and Constitutional Due Process, are on their faces inapplicable, and also because the Complaint fails to identify any relief being sought by Appellants.

Part II of the Argument section briefly addresses each of the Assignments of Error and Issues pertaining to Assignments of Error in the same order in which they are identified in Appellants' Brief. This section is only included because Appellants' Appeal Brief is difficult to understand and does not track with the Assignments of Error or Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Not applicable – Respondents do not contend the Trial Court erred.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellants are suspended members of the Prince Hall Grand Lodge of Washington, a Masonic Grand Lodge ("the Grand Lodge"). The Respondents are the Grand Lodge and its current elected leader, or "Grand Master", Gregory Wraggs, Sr.. CP 36.

The Appellants' 22 page Complaint (CP 35-56) is difficult to understand, but generally contains redundant statements identifying the parties (CP 36-37), copious quotes from alleged Masonic authorities (CP 38-51), an apparent request to the Grievance and Appeals Committee of the Grand Lodge (not the Court) (CP 51), and a laundry list of quoted Masonic rules that Plaintiffs apparently contend were violated (CP 51-56).

The Complaint identifies two legal theories of recovery, the Anti Harassment statute, RCW 10.14.020 (CP 35, 36, 37), and "Substantive and Procedural Due Process of Law, which is guaranteed in The United States of America in the 14th Amendment" (CP 49).

The Complaint omits a "Prayer for Relief" or any itemization of the relief Appellants are seeking in this suit.

Appellants filed their Complaint on July 7, 2005. On that same day, Appellants filed a Motion for Preliminary Injunction (CP1-33) that, according to their Proposed Order (CP 28), sought an injunction that would have allowed Appellants to attend the Grand Lodge's 112th annual meeting to be held at Pasco, Washington on July 13-15, 2015. The Appellants attempted to obtain the injunction *ex parte*, without notice. Judge Hogan entered an order denying the motion without prejudice on July 7 (CP 34).

After July 7, nothing happened. There were no decisions by the Court until Respondents filed their Motion to Dismiss. Appellants never renewed their injunction motion and never filed any discovery motions. Respondents filed their Motion to Dismiss the Complaint on December 3

(CP 181-182).¹ In both their Motion and Reply (CP183-185), Respondents pointed out that Appellants had failed to identify either a colorable legal theory of recovery or other requested relief. Judge Schwartz granted the motion on December 11, 2015 (CP 118-119), and denied Appellants' subsequent Motion for Reconsideration (CP 176). This appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

PART I: THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED THE GRAND LODGE'S MOTION TO DISMISS

Judge Schwartz correctly dismissed this Complaint. Civil Rule 8(a) states in part that “a pleading which sets forth a claim for relief... shall contain (1) a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief and (2) a demand for judgment for the relief to which the pleader deems the pleader is entitled.” Although the threshold for meeting Civil Rule 8 is not difficult, “Even our liberal rules of pleading require a complaint to contain direct allegations sufficient to give notice to the court and the opponent of the nature of the plaintiff’s claim”. *Berge v. Gorton*, 88 Wn.2d 756, 762, 567 P.2d 187 (1977) (dismissing Complaint for failure to state claim).

¹ Respondents have designated their Motion to Dismiss and Reply but not yet received notice of the CP numbers. Respondents assume the numbers will be 181-182 for the Motion and 183-185 for the Reply, but have attached copies of both (short) pleadings to this brief for the Court’s convenience.

Appellants' Complaint fails to set forth either a "claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief" or "a demand for judgment for the relief to which the pleader deems the pleader is entitled".

The two legal theories identified by Appellants in their Complaint are plainly inapplicable. RCW 10.14 is commonly referred to as the "anti stalking statute". *See, e.g., State v. Becklin*, 163 Wn.2d 519 (2008). RCW 10.14 applies when a plaintiff seeks to cut off unwanted contact from a defendant.

In this case, the Appellants have not stated a claim for being "harassed" by the Respondents within the meaning of RCW 10.14. In fact, Appellants' pleadings show that just the opposite is true. Appellants sought an injunction to force the Respondents to allow the Appellants to attend the Respondents' 2015 Annual Meeting (CP 28). In other words, the Appellants were seeking to force unwanted contact on the Respondents, not vice versa. Appellants are seeking to use RCW 10.14 to force the Respondents to have unwanted contact and an unwanted relationship. This is exactly opposite to the purpose of RCW 10.14. The Appellants do not understand RCW 10.14 and seem to be relying on a layman's generic definition of "harassment". Appellants have not stated a claim under RCW 10.14.

Appellants have also failed to state a claim for violation of Constitutional Due Process rights. The Due Process clauses of the Constitution are contained in the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution, and only apply to actions by the federal (Fifth Amendment)

and state (Fourteenth Amendment) governments. *See, e.g., Garvey v. Seattle Tennis Club*, 60 Wn.App. 930, 935, 808 P.2d 1155 (1995), and citations therein. There is no federal or state action alleged or present in this case.

Appellants' Complaint also fails because it does not include a "demand for judgment for the relief to which the pleader deems the pleader is entitled" as required by CR 8. There is no "Prayer for Relief" or similar section in the Complaint. At the Trial Court, the Appellants argued that they identified a form of relief when they filed their *ex parte* motion for preliminary injunction. That argument failed for two reasons, however. First, the injunction motion did not cure the deficiencies in the Complaint. Second, the relief sought in Appellants' *ex parte* injunction motion was moot once the Annual Communication ended on July 15, 2015, long before the case was dismissed.

The Appellants' Appeal Brief fails to dispute, analyze or even mention any of these issues. The Complaint was dismissed for good reason. The fact that the Appellants are *pro se* does not help them. A *pro se* litigant is generally held to the same standard as an attorney. *Carver v. State of Washington*, 147 Wn.App. 567, 575 (2008) (noting exception for mentally disabled *pro se* plaintiff); *Batten v. Abrams*, 28 Wn.App. 737, 739 n. 1, 626 P.2d 984, *review denied*, 95 Wn.2d 1033 (1981). Appellants failed to meet the requirements of Rule 8 and their Complaint was properly dismissed.

**PART II: RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR,
ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF
ERROR, AND TABLE OF AUTHORITIES IN
APPELLANTS' BRIEF**

Appellants' Appeal Brief is difficult to understand and does not track with the Assignments of Error or Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error. In order to ensure completeness, however, the following section briefly addresses each of Appellants' Assignments of Error and Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error in the same order in which they are identified in Appellants' Brief.

Appellants' Assignments of Error

Assignment A. The Trial Court did not grant summary judgment, it granted a motion to dismiss for the valid reasons set forth above. We will not repeat those reasons here.

Assignment B. The Respondents responded to the Appellants' Complaint by filing their Motion to Dismiss. Since the Motion was granted, no further response was required.

Assignment D (there is no Assignment C). There was no reversible error by the Trial Court in denying Appellants' *ex parte* request for a preliminary injunction. Whether to grant a preliminary injunction is a discretionary decision for the Trial Court. *See, e.g., Alderwood Assocs. v. Washington Environmental Council*, 96 Wn.2d 230, 635 P.2d 108 (1981). Appellants' Appeal Brief fails to show or even argue that the Trial Court's decision to deny their *ex parte* motion was an abuse of discretion. Moreover, it was not an abuse of discretion as the Appellants' attempt to obtain *ex parte* relief without notice very clearly violated Civil Rule 65.

In addition, any issue regarding the preliminary injunction motion has long been moot since the annual meeting ended on July 15, 2015.

The second portion of Assignment D, relating to “Appellants’ Request for Discovery filed on July 28, 2015” does not contain any reviewable issue. Appellants never filed a motion to compel or similar motion. There is no Trial Court decision to review.

Assignment E. Again, there is no reviewable issue with regard to discovery because no motion to compel or issue regarding discovery was ever put before the Trial Court.

Assignment G (there is no Assignment F). There is no conceivable basis for arguing that Appellants’ Due Process rights were violated by assigning this case to Judge Schwartz. If Appellants felt that Judge Schwartz was biased against them they should have filed an Affidavit of Prejudice pursuant to RCW 4.12. They decided not to do so. They cannot complain after the fact, and there is no evidence anywhere of any bias by Judge Schwartz.

Assignment H. This issue was not raised in any defined legal theory in the Complaint, and is irrelevant to whether Appellants stated a claim under RCW 10.14 or the Due Process clauses of the Constitution.

Assignment I. Appellants did not file any Declarations in response to the Motion to Dismiss, and it is not clear what “Declaration Statements” are being referenced in this Assignment. Appellants present no argument in support of this Assignment but we note, again, that this

was a Motion to Dismiss for failure to state a claim, not a summary judgment motion and no declarations were involved.

Issues pertaining to Appellants' Assignments of Error

Issues 1, 2 and 3. All of these issues pertain to discovery. Again, there is no reviewable issue with regard to discovery because no motion to compel or other motion regarding discovery was ever put before the trial court.

Issue 4. Respondents did respond to the Complaint with the Motion to Dismiss.

Issue 5. Again, RCW 10.14 has no application to this situation for the reasons stated above.

Appellants' Table of Authorities


Appellants cite a number of very old cases in their Table of Authorities, but never mention any of the cases in their Brief. It appears that the Appellants just performed a computer search to identify cases involving Masons and then listed the cases. Counsel for the Grand Lodge could not locate the two cases from the 1800's, *Woolfork's Appeal*, 126 Pa. St. 47 (1889) and *Smith v. Smith*, 2 Desaus 557 (1813), but the other cases are wholly unrelated to RCW 10.14, Due Process, the sufficiency of a Complaint under CR 8 , or the issues in this case.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondents respectfully request that this Court affirm the Trial Court's decision.